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Plaintiff, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), for

its Complaint against the Defendant Steven E. Nothern (“Nothern™), alleges the
following:
SUMMARY
1. On the morning of October 31, 2001, Nothern, a former mutual fund manager at
Massachusetts Financial Services Company (“MFS™), violated the federal securities laws’
prohibition against insider trading. Specifically, Peter J. Davis, Jr. (“Davis”), a
Washington, D.C-based consultant MFS hired, tipped Nothern with material nonpublic
information that the United States Department of the Treasury (the “Treasury™) was
going to suspend issuance of the 30-year bond. Davis procured this information at a
Treasury quarterly refunding press conference, and related it to Northern in violation of
Davis’ obligation to maintain the confidentiality of the information for a specified period
of time.
2. Prior to the release of the Treasury refunding information to the public, Nothern,

while in possession of the material nonpublic information—the discontinuance of the
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30-year bond—purchased $25 million in par value of 30-year bonds. Furthermore, not
only did Nothern purchase bonds for the portfolios he managed, but he also tipped three
(3) other MFS portfolio managers with the same material nonpublic information. They
likewise immediately purchased $40 million in par value of 30-year bonds for the
portfolios they managed.

3. When news of Treasury’s suspension of the issuance of the 30-year bond was
reported by a wire service, the price of the bond skyrocketed. Nothern and the three (3)
MFS portfolio managers made profits of $3.1 million for the portfolios they managed.

4. As aresult of his conduct as described herein, Nothern violated Section 10(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act™) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78; (b)] and Rule
10b-35 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. Unless enjoined, he is likely to engage in such
unlawful conduct again. Thus, the SEC seeks injunctive relief, disgorgement of illegal
profits, prejudgment interest and civil money penalties.

JURISDICTION

5. The SEC brings this action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(e) and 21A of the
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d)(3) (A), 78u(e) and 78u-1].

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Sections 21(d), 21(¢) and
27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78u(d) (3) (A), 78u(3) and 78aa].

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15
U.S.C. Section 78aa] and 28 U.S.C. Sections 1391(b) and (c), because substantial events or

omissions giving rise to the SEC’s claim occurred in this District.
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8. Nothem used the means or instruments of interstate commerce or the mails in
connection with the acts described herein.

DEFENDANT

9. Nothern, a resident of Scituate, Massachusetts, was at all relevant times a Senior
Vice President at MFS, a Boston, Massachusetts-based investment management company
adviser. Nothern’s duties included management of seven (7) fixed-income mutual funds,
whose combined net asset value at the relevant time was approximately $4 billion. One of
the funds under Nothern’s management invested in Treasury issues and other high-grade,
fixed-income securities.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Peter J, Davis, Jr.

10. Davis, a resident of Washington, D.C., is an economist by training, He had
previously been a Congressional aide for approximately eleven (11) years and, as a result,
marketed himself to his existing and potential clients as having special access to
Washington insiders and news. At all times relevant to this action, through his
Washington, D.C.-registered sole proprietorship Davis Capital Investment Ideas, Davis
sold his oral and written analyses of Washington political and financial events to broker-
dealers, financial analysts and ivestors. MFS was, at all relevant times, one of Davis’
clients.

il The fact that Davis considered his contacts to Washington policymakers and
information to be his major asset is amply demonstrated by the advertising materials he

sent to existing and potential clients. For instance, beginning in early 2000, Davis sent an
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advertising brochure to prospective clients in which he asserted: “11 years on Capitol Hill
and 16 years advising Wall Street clients have taught me how to get Washington

I 64

information ahead of the media;” “[my] ability to generate such information, before it
reaches the media, derives from relationships built over 26 years of working with
Washington policymakers;” and “[a]dvance information is only half the battle. The other
half is supplying the judgment to turn advance information into an investment idea.
Unless the papers are wrong, I avoid current news. My clients pay me for the first call on
investment issues they care about.” In a later version of the same brochure, Davis claimed
that his numerous “relationships” in Washington allowed him to make accurate
“predictions” about executive and judicial decisions. In particular, Davis stated that on
September 27, 2000, he accurately predicted that Treasury would not change indexed bond
payments, and “[t]wo days later, Treasury made it official.”
12. During the relevant period, Davis communicated frequently and regularly with his
clients by near-daily e-mails, telefax, and telephone calls. Each Monday morning, Davis
e-mailed his clients a weekly calendar of upcoming Washington events.

Davis and Nothern’s Relationship
13. Nothern, who was Davis’ primary contact at MFS, had known Davis since the
mid-1990s. MFS first retained Davis sometime between 1995 and 1997, and paid him
$12,000 per year for his services.
14. Davis sent Nothern e-mails approximately three (3) times a week as well as
periodic telefaxes. The latter included copies of Treasury refunding announcement press

releases.
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15. Nothern met with Davis at least twice in Washington, D.C. Specifically, in
January 1999 and again in January or February 2000, Nothern attended a day of meetings
that Davis arranged between several of his clients and federal government officials. These
government officials included officials from Treasury.

The 30-Year Treasury Bond

16. Treasury, an Executive Department of the United States Government, issues and
sells debt obligations of the federal government to finance government operations.
Included among the debt obligations Treasury has historically issued are bonds that mature
at a term of thirty (30) years.

17. The 30-year, or so-called “long” bond, was at the relevant time the longest-term
Treasury issue. In the past, it served as an important benchmark for other United States
Government issues and, directly or indirectly, for the bond market generally.

18. The “par value” of a Treasury bond is its face amount, which usually differs from
the price at which it trades in the market. For example, a bond with a par value of $1,000
($1,000 is the lowest denomination sold and is referred to as “one bond”’) may sell for
more or less than $1,000 depending on market factors. Treasury bonds are quoted and
priced as a percentage of par value to the nearest 1/32 of one percent. For example, if a
$1,000 Treasury bond were priced at “100,” it would actually sell at $1,000.

19. At 9:30 a.m. on October 31, 2001, the long bond was trading above its par value.
The asked price was 102 18/32 (usually written as 102-18), meaning that dealers were
asking $1025.625 for a $1,000 bond, or 102.5625 percent of the par value of the bond. Put

another way, a bond that sold at 102-18 would bring $102.5625 for each $100 of par value.
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20. Public announcement that Treasury intends to suspend issuance of a particular
maturity federal government bond generally drives up the price of outstanding bonds with
that maturity because traders anticipate a shortage. Accordingly, traders who know about
any such suspension in advance of a public announcement can realize enormous profits by
purchasing the bonds before the announcement, while they are comparably priced low, and
selling them immediately afterwards, as the market increases on the news of the
suspensions.

Information Disclosed at Treasury Refunding Press Conferences Is Confidential

21. Each calendar quarter up to and including October 31, 2001, Treasury disclosed
the federal government’s financing requirements for the coming quarter in announcements
at refunding press conferences. On occasion, these announcements included details about
Treasury’s plans either to issue or buy back its bonds in the coming quarter.

22. Treasury required that all persons granted access to the conferences maintain the
strict confidentiality of all information disclosed—that is, to respect and abide by an
embargo on such information—until expiration of the embargo at a predetermined
announced time. Treasury routinely embargoes for a specified time the information
disclosed at refunding press conferences to ensure the accurate, uniform and orderly
dissemination of refunding information and to preserve the integrity of the market for its
debt issues. Such embargoes ensure that all market participants are afforded equal access
to the same information at the same time.

23. All persons on Treasury property are, and during the relevant period were,

required by law to abide by Treasury regulations and to “comply with the instructions of
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Treasury guards, with official signs of a prohibitory or directory nature, and with the
directions of other authorized officials.” See 31 C.F.R. 407.5. Violations of this directive
are punishable by fine or imprisonment, or both. See 31 C.F.R.§ 407.14. Authorized
officials of Treasury’s Office of Public Affairs (“Treasury Public Affairs”), who conducted
the October 31, 2001 quarterly refunding press conference, explicitly announced to all
attendees that an embargo of the information divulged at the press conferences was in
effect.

24, Furthermore, a federal criminal statute, effective now and during the relevant
period, prohibits any person from converting to his or her own use, or conveying without
authority, anything of value belonging to the United States (or any department thereof).
Violation of this statute could result in a penalty consisting of a fine or imprisonment for
up to ten (10) years, or both. See 18 U.S.C. § 641.

25. During the relevant period, persons lacking a Treasury pass, press credentials or a
visitor’s pass were not permitted to enter the Treasury building. Visitor’s passes were
granted only upon the approval of a Treasury official for a visit at a particular time and for
a specific purpose. Treasury Public Affairs also granted visitor’s passes to non-
credentialed members of the press for attendance at specific events. In either case, the
visitor was required to supply his or her name and date of birth or social security number
so that the United States Secret Service could conduct a background check prior to the
issuance of a pass.

26. On October 31, 2001, the Treasury refunding press conference was conducted

behind closed doors at Treasury’s offices in Washington, D.C., which are located at 1500
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Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., and controlled by the United States Secret Service and
Treasury Public Affairs. Access to the press conference was limited to government
officials and those persons with either press credentials or visitor’s passes.

Davis’ Attendance at the October 31, 2001 Refunding Press Conference

27. Treasury first permitted Davis to attend a refunding press conference in 1994,
pursuant to an explicit face-to-face agreement he made with a senior adviser in Treasury’s
Office of Federal Finance that he would preserve the confidentiality of any embargoed
information he learned at such conferences. It was only by reason of this explicit
agreement that Treasury permitted Davis, from approximately 1994 to October 31, 2001,
to attend refunding press conferences. Davis would have been denied entry to both
Treasury’s building and the refunding conferences if at any time he had disclosed that he
did not intend to obey Treasury’s embargoes on information disclosed at the refunding
press conferences.

28. On October 30, 2001, Treasury Public Affairs issued a press release announcing
that a refunding press conference was scheduled for the next day, and that all
announcements made at the refunding conference would be embargoed until 10:00 a.m. on
October 31, 2001.

29. Upon learning of the October 31, 2001 refunding press conference, Davis
obtained a visitor's pass in the manner described above, and was granted entry to the
Treasury building consistent with his usual practice.

30. The refunding press conference began at 9:00 a.m. Immediately before it began,

the spokesperson for Treasury Public Affairs instructed all attendees to turn off their cell
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phones and pagers, and directed that the doors to the room where the conference was about
to commence be closed. The spokesperson announced that an embargo was effective
immediately, and that it would remain in effect until 10:00 a.m. She then introduced the
speaker, Undersecretary of the Treasury Peter Fisher, and advised that Undersecretary
Fisher would take questions until 9:40 a.m. following the conclusion of his statements.
The spokesperson concluded her comments by repeating that the embargo on ail
information disclosed at the press conference would not expire until 10:00 a.m.

31. At the conclusion of the spokesperson’s statements, a hard copy of the press
release was distributed to all attendees. Undersecretary Fisher read a prepared statement
containing the substance of the press release, including the information that Treasury
would suspend issuance of the 30-year bond. He then took questions from the press.
Following this question and answer session, the Treasury spokesperson again — for the
third time — cautioned attendees to observe the embargo on the information disclosed until
its expiration at 10:00 a.m. The refunding press conference concluded at approximately
9:25 am.

32. Notwithstanding the three (3) explicit oral warnings about the embargo given at
the press conference, and in direct violation of his explicit prior agreement with a Treasury
official to abide by Treasury embargos, Davis violated the embargo in effect for the
October 31, 2001 refunding press conference. Between the time Davis left the October 31,
2001 refunding press conference and 9:43 a.m., the time the information was inadvertently

posted on Treasury’s website, he made at least nine (9) cellular telephone calls to eight (8)
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of his clients. Davis placed those calls at 9:28 a.m., 9:32 a.m., 9:33 a.m,, 9:34 am., 9:35
am., 9:37 am., 9:38 am., 9:39 a.m., and 9:41 am.
33. At 9:57 am., Reuters news service reported on its newswire: “US TREASURY
SAYS DISCONTINUING SALES OF REGULAR, INDEXED 30-YEAR BONDS.”

Davis Tipped Nothern With The Confidential Treasury Information

34. Davis called Nothern at approximately 9:38 a.m. on October 31, 2001,
approximately five (5) minutes before the refunding press conference information was
posted on Treasury’s website. When Nothern failed to answer his phone, Davis left him a
voicemail message advising him that: (a) Peter Fisher had informed Davis that Treasury
would cancel the 30-year bond; (b) Treasury would release a press announcement of the
cancellation at 10:00 a.m.; and (c) the news was embargoed until that time.

35. Almost immediately, Nothern retrieved and listened to Davis’ voicemail message.
Nothern knew: (a) that Peter Fisher was an official at Treasury in the debt finance area
who had access to information of the nature reported by Davis; (b) that Treasury refunding
announcements conveyed market sensitive information; and (¢} the meaning and nature of
an embargo.

36. Immediately upon hearing Davis' message, Nothern told three (3) other MFS
portfolio managers that he had just received a voicemail message from Davis, a
Washington, D.C. consultant, disclosing that Treasury would cancel the 30-year bond.

37. While in possession of the information provided by Davis, Nothern purchased $25
million in par value of 30-year bonds. The three (3) other portfolio managers that Nothern

tipped respectively purchased $25 million, $10 million, and $5 million in par value of 30-

10
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year bonds. All of these purchases occurred prior to 9:43 a.m., the time at which the
suspension of the 30-year bond was publicly disseminated on Treasury’s website. Asa
result of their bond purchases, Nothern and the three (3) other MFS portfolio managers
made profits of approximately $3.1 million for the portfolios they managed.

38. At approximately 9:51 a.m., again prior to the expiration of the embargo that
Davis had advised him of, Northern made an additional $14.25 million purchase of bonds
for the portfolios he managed.

39. Later that same day, supervisors in the MFS fixed-income research department,
alerted to the possibility of illegal trading in the 30-year bond, asked Nothern *“if Davis had
said that this [information] was embargoed and that you couldn’t trade on it.” Nothern
replied, “no.” Subsequently, Nothemn admuitted that Davis had in fact informed him about
the embargo in his October 31, 2001 voicemail message.

Davis Tipped Nothern with Material Nonpublic Information

40. Davis’ tip to Nothern, that sales of the 30-year bond would be suspended, was
both material and nonpublic. There was a substantial likelihood that, under all the
circumstances, knowledge of the suspension of sales of the 30-year bond would have
assumed actual significance in the deliberations of a reasonable investor.

41. Knowledge of the suspension of sales of the 30-year bond in fact assumed actual
significance in the deliberations of Nothern and the MFS portfolio managers who Nothern
tipped. All of them immediately invested millions of dollars upon receipt of, and in

rehance upon, the tip from Davis.

11
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42 When news of the suspension of the 30-year bond was made public, it matenially
affected the price of outstanding 30-year bonds. Between 9:30 a.m. on October 31, 2001
and 9:44 a.m. (one minute after Treasury posted the news to its website), the asked price of
the 30-year bond increased from 102-18 to 102-23. At 9:57 a.m., when the Reuters
newswire reported the information, the asked price for the 30-year bond increased again to
103-12. The asked price reached a high of 108-18 at 12:59 p.m. and closed at 107-25. This
was the single largest one-day rally in price of the 30-year bond since the stock market
crash of 1987, fourteen (14) years earlier.

Davis Acted With Intent to Deceive, Manipulate or Defraud

43. Davis’ misappropriation of confidential nonpublic Treasury information on
October 31, 2001 violated the October 31, 2001 Treasury embargo, his agreement to abide
by the embargo, his duty to Treasury, federal criminal law prohibiting conversion of
government property, and federal regulations requiring him to obey the instructions of
Treasury officials at the refunding press conference.

44, Davis benefited personally by tipping Nothern with the information he
misappropriated from Treasury. Davis was in the business of selling information he
characterized in his marketing materials as “ahead of the media . . . the first call on
investment issues.” Davis demonstrated, by illegal tips such as that he gave to Nothern
about the 30-year bond, that he could procure and provide significant nonpublic
information for clients. This served to enhance his business stature and thus his ability to

attract new clients and realize greater fees.

12
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Davis Violated a Duty of Trust and Confidence He Assumed by
Agreeing to Maintain as Confidential the Material Nonpublic
Information He Gained Access to at the Refunding Press Conference

45, Rule 10b5-2(b) (1), 17 C.F.R. Section 240.10b5-2(b) (1), provides that a duty of
trust and confidence exists for purposes of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rulel0b5 thereunder “whenever a person agrees to maintain information in confidence.”
46, As set forth above, in 1994, Davis agreed and promised, in a face-to-face meeting
with a Treasury official, that if he were permitted to attend Treasury refunding press
conferences, in return he would obey and abide by all Treasury embargos on information
disclosed at such conferences.

47. Davis violated the duty of trust and confidence he owed to Treasury by
communicating the material nonpublic information disclosed at the October 31, 2001
refunding press conference to Nothern prior to the expiration of the Treasury-imposed
embargo on the information.

Davis Violated a Duty Imposed on Him by Federal Criminal Statute

48. 18 U.S.C. Section 641, a criminal statute, provides that any person who
“knowingly converts to his use or the use of another, or without authority, sells, conveys or
disposes of any . . . thing of value of the United States or of any department or agency
thereof . . . Shall be fined under this title or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.”
49. For purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 641, information is a “thing of value.”

50. Davis violated 18 U.S.C. Section 641 by knowingly converting to his use and

Nothern’s use Treasury’s confidential information disclosed at the October 31, 2001

13
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Treasury refunding press conference. Davis further violated 18 U.S.C. Section 641 by
disposing of and conveying that confidential information to Nothern without authority.

Nothern Knew, Recklessly Disregarded, or Should Have Known
That Davis Tipped Him in Breach of a Duty Owed Treasury

51. Nothern knew, recklessly disregarded, or should have known that Davis tipped
him with confidential information, in breach of a duty Davis owed to Treasury, when he
advised him of the suspension of the 30-year bond. While in possession of the nonpublic
information, Nothern purchased 30-year bonds and also tipped three (3) other MFS
portfolio managers, who likewise purchased 30-year bonds. Nothern knew, recklessly
disregarded, or should have known that the three (3) portfolio managers would trade on the
information with which he provided them.
52. Nothern knew, because Davis specifically told him in the voicemail message he
left him, that the information he received from Davis was nonpublic and that it was
embargoed until 10:00 a.m.
53. Nothern also knew, because Davis specifically told him in the voicemail message
he left him, that Davis obtained the information he communicated to Nothern from Peter
Fisher, a Treasury official with access to information concerning Treasury’s issuance of
debt securities.

COUNT 1

Nothern Violated Exchange Act Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5

54. Paragraphs 1 through 53 above are realleged and incorporated herein by

reference.

14
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55. By reason of the foregoing, Nothern violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act,

and Rule 10b-5 thereunder.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the SEC respectfully requests that this Court enter judgment:

(1)  Permanently restraining and enjoining Nothern from further violations of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 10b-5 thereunder;

(2) Ordering Northern to disgorge approximately $3.1 million, representing
the trading profits realized by the MFS portfolios managed by Nothern and the three
(3) other MFS managers Nothemn tipped, all of whom traded in 30-year bonds while
in possession of the material nonpublic information Davis provided, plus
prejudgment interest;

(3) Ordering Nothern to pay a civil money penalty pursuant to Section 21 A(a)
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-1(a); and

(4)  Granting such other and further relief as to the Court may seem just and

equitable.

John J. Rossetf, Jr.

Attorneys for Plaintiff

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
450 5th Street, N.W.

Washington, DC 20549-0911

Tel: (202) 551-4491

Fax: (202) 772-9246

E-Mail: johnsontr@sec.gov
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